1966

Joanne Adams Leishman Dba Samak Lodge v.  
Kamas Valley Lumber Company, A Corporation :  
Appellant's Brief

### **STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE**

This is an action for compensatory damages brought by the Respondent for implied breach of warranty, the basis for the breach of warranty being that the Appellant is alleged to have furnished laminated beams to the Respondent, which beams were unsuitable and unmerchantable for the use contemplated by the Respondent and which use the Appellant allegedly knew.

## **DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT**

The Court granted judgment for the Respondent in the amount of \$7500 together with interest thereon at the rate of six percent (6%) per annum from February 23, 1966.

## **RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL**

The Appellants seek an order to amend the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment to conform with the facts proved and to reverse to Judgment of the trial court, or in the alternative an order remanding the case to the lower court for trial.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The Appellant is a lumber company doing business in Kamas, Utah, a small town in southeast Summit County. It engages in the general lumber company business and manufactures and fabricates lumber products.

The Respondent Joanne Adams Leishman purchased property known as the SAMAK LODGE in March of 1964 (R 104). It consisted at that time of approximately 10 acres of ground upon which was located a building which had been operated as a private club known as Samak Lodge. A point of interest is that "Samak" is "Kamas" spelled backward.

The lodge was located just east of Kamas at the mouth of Beaver Creek Canyon. The purchase price of the entire property was \$7500. (TR 104, Interrogatory Answer 2)

Mrs. Leishman was familiar with the weather conditions at Kamas and was aware that winter often brings heavy snow and ice conditions (TR 122).



Mrs. Leishman desired to enlarge the existing structure on the property into a tavern and restaurant. To accomplish this purpose she entered into a business agreement with one Ben Dell of Salt Lake City to build and operate the tavern. The agreement, in substance, was that Mr. Dell would supervise and handle the construction of the tavern and would operate it for one year, whereupon his efforts would entitle him to be a partner in the business (R 33, 114).

The new structure was to be built over the foundation of the structure that had collapsed because of previous snows (TR 21).

In the forepart of the year 1964, Mr. Dell and Mrs. Leishman drew some rough plans for the construction contemplated (TR 35, 115). On the basis of these plans they contacted several suppliers concerning materials and to get quotes. They had determined they would need seven laminated beams of 6" x 12" with variable length size (TR 36). In this regard they had consulted with Morrison-Merrill Company and with Highland Lumber Company prior to ever talking with the Appellant concerning the laminated beams (TR 9, 35, 117). Dell and Claud Thacker measured the old building and determined how many beams they would need and that the spacing should be eight feet (TR 36). They had been advised that the same could not be supplied by those previously contacted in time for their contemplated date to commence construction. This date was approximately April of 1964.

Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell contacted the Kamas Valley Lumber Company in the early Spring of 1964 concerning the proposed construction. Here the testimony be-

comes conflicting as to the nature of the contract. The diverse testimony concerning the beams is as follows:

**Mrs. Leishman:**

Mr. Dell and she went to the Kamas Valley Lumber Company and talked with Mr. Weaver, an employee of Kamas Valley Lumber Company. At that time, the first meeting (March or April of 1964), they just discussed lumber. They did not discuss beams (R 116).

On the second meeting, March or April of 1964, both she and Mr. Dell were present and they met with Mr. Weaver again. They told Mr. Weaver that they had consulted with Morrison-Merrill about the necessary laminated beams and that company could not supply the needed beams within their time schedule. She says that Weaver said that Kamas Valley could supply them with laminated beams (TR 116). She said that they (she and Dell) told Weaver they would need eight beams (TR 116). She did not ask them to design the beams for the building (R 122).

She says that Weaver showed them a sample of the beam, and "the sample appeared to be very satisfactory" (TR 117). At the second meeting they placed their order.

**Ben Dell:**

Mr. Dell's version of ordering the laminated beams is considerably different than Mrs. Leishman's. His story is: That on the original trip in March of 1964, they did not purchase anything; they merely asked about prices (TR 12). On the second trip, about a week later, he ordered certain material. Those present were himself, Mr. Weaver, Mr. Bannister, and Mr. Wilde, the latter three being employees of the Respondent (TR 13). His testimony as to

what was said at the time the beams were ordered is: (TR 14)

"A. The beams were to be made, that they try to make delivery in two weeks if possible, because we were hurrying to try to get the building put up, and they said they would try to make the two-week delivery; if not, it may take three. At that time——

Q. Was anything else said?

A. The only other thing was that the studding and the other materials we ordered would be sent up as we needed them."

**Mr. Weaver:**

Mr. Weaver states that sometime in the Spring of 1964 Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell came to the office inquiring about prices for material including laminated beams. He quoted him a price for the material they said they needed (TR 146). At the time of the first meeting neither Mr. Dell nor Mrs. Leishman indicated how they were going to use the material except that they were making an addition to the lodge they had purchased (TR 117).

Mr. Weaver did not have any other conversations with Mr. Dell nor Mrs. Leishman again until after the beams had been delivered (R 147).

**Mr. Bannister:**

Mr. Bannister, an employee of Kamas Valley Lumber Company at the time of the beam purchase, testified that about April 17, 1964, Mr. Ben Dell came to the business for the purpose of placing certain orders. He knew exactly what he wanted. He placed an order for three (3) 6" x 12" x 32' beams and four (4) 6" x 12" x 28' beams. He (Dell)

said they were going into his construction. He (Dell) did not say how they were to be used (TR 165). The order was filled and the beams delivered (Exhibit 38, R 166).

The beams were constructed and delivered. Some of the beams had substantial defects in them in that the joints had been improperly joined. The joints were finger joints that intermesh something like the fingers of both hands when interlocked. In this case the imperfect joint was caused by having one or more of the 2 x 6 boards that formed the joints upsidedown at the time of fitting and gluing. This caused a space between the end of the finger and the vertex of the interlocking joint of the next board and also caused one of the boards to be raised from the board to which it was to be laminated by a space as much as one-fourth of an inch and running several feet in length. These defects were obvious to all who looked at them.

Upon delivery, Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell made complaint to the Appellant. The nature of the complaint is conflicting:

**Mrs. Leishman:**

Mrs. Leishman says that they complained of both the appearance and construction of the beams, but that they accepted the beams, notwithstanding these defects, at a discount (TR 118, 119). She makes no claim that "price" was a factor in the discount (TR 118, 119).

**Mr. Dell:**

Mr. Dell said they objected to the beams. He admitted they accepted the beams at a discount, but he claims

the discount was not because of defective quality but because someone else had given similar beams at a smaller price and he expected the same price (TR 41).

**Mr. Weaver:**

Mr. Dell came in and complained of a beam with a crack in it. This was the second time he had seen Mr. Dell. Walt Carrol, the shop manager, and Mr. Weaver went up and looked at the beams. Weaver suggested if they still wanted to use them they should put bolts through them. He offered on behalf of the Appellant to furnish the bolts and pay for the carpenter's (Mr. Thacker) time. When he left the job site, Dell was satisfied with this arrangement (TR 158, 159). After the building was constructed, Weaver told Dell the beams were being placed too far apart to support the roof (TR 151).

**Ward Blazzard:**

A short time after the discount was given and before the credit memos were filed, Mr. Blazzard inquired of his employees concerning the reason for the discount. This was in the forepart of May of 1964. Upon learning the reason, he marked the credit memo to read as follows: (TR 183).

"Adjustment of price due to dissatisfaction in laminating"

All of the witnesses agreed that at the time the defective condition of the beams was discovered, the beams had not yet been installed in the building. At this time no one from Kamas Valley Lumber Company knew how

the beams were to be used or the dimensions of the structure.

Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell had employed Claude Thacker and his son Don Thacker to help in the construction. Mr. Claude Thacker was a carpenter with 40 years of experience. Mr. Claude Thacker testified concerning the facts. The substance of his testimony was that Dell had a rough sketch from which he worked (TR 175). When Dell wanted something he went to the Kamas Valley Lumber Company to get it. He, Mr. Thacker, told him, Dell, at the time that he did not think the beams were strong enough for the use intended (TR 177, 180).

As the structure went up, it became obvious to Mr. Claude Thacker that the beams would not hold the intended weight. He testified that he told Dell the beams wouldn't hold and that there was too much space between centers (TR 177).

Claude Thacker testified that when walking on the roof there was more than a normal amount of spring or give which indicated a lack of strength to him (TR 177). He told Dell about it and Dell was unconcerned (TR 177).

Claude Thacker also testified that he had lived in the Kamas area 22 years and was aware of winter conditions (TR 177). He advised Dell to put a good strong post under each beam when he left for the winter since the beam was not strong enough to hold up the roof (TR 190).

Don Thacker testified that the beams were obviously defective and that fact was called to the attention of Mr. Dell by his father (TR 198). He further testified that before the beams were installed his father told Dell he would have to put them on four-foot centers (TR 200). Don

Thacker said that when he would walk on the beams after they were installed they would give an inch in the middle (TR 200), so he and his father advised Dell to put props or braces under each beam when he left in the fall (TR 200). Mr. Dell argued with Mr. Claude Thacker about the spacing between the beams (TR 202).

Both Robert Bannister and Bill Weaver warned Dell that there was too much space between the centers of the beams (TR 151, 171). Bannister also told Dell that the beams should not be placed on more than four-foot centers (TR 171). Dell ignored this advice (TR 171, 190).

The building was constructed generally as shown on Exhibit 37, which is labeled "roof plan." This plan was drawn by Mr. William Weaver (Exhibit 36), but to which Ralph L. Wadsworth, a Consulting Engineer, added beams "A", "B", and "C". The plan indicates that the beams were generally on eight foot centers with the exception of the angle area which had as much as a ten-foot spread between centers.

Both the Appellant and Respondent produced expert witnesses in the form of engineers, both of whom testified that the beams, if they had been of average construction, with expected allowable live load carrying capacities, would not, design-wise, have carried the expected load in that area (TR 83, 130). Wadsworth was emphatic that the roof would have failed regardless of the quality of the beam, (TR 131, 135), and that the cause of failure was that it was inadequately designed (TR 131) and constructed (TR 131).

The building was constructed and completed in July of 1964, and operated as a tavern and restaurant until the

close of the season, approximately November of 1964. Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell returned to Salt Lake in the Fall. Neither took any corrective measures to brace the beams or the roof (TR 190).

On or about February 23, 1965, part of the building roof collapsed. It was in this part of the structure that the laminated beams were used.

Mrs. Leishman was the sole witness concerning damages. After being placed on the witness stand four times for the purpose of proving damages and with some assistance in the way of counsel from the Court on what the measure of damages is in a case of this nature, (R 49, 105), Mrs. Leishman testified that the property was worth \$25,000.00, (TR 105), before the roof fell, and was worth \$7,500.00 after (TR 105). This is the only proof of damages offered by the Plaintiff.

On examination, Mrs. Leishman testified to the following facts:

1. The entire property cost her initially \$7500.00 (TR 104).

2. Her entire expenditure on the project, including labor for herself and Dell, was \$6,538. 29 (TR 104), which included the following items which had been or could be salvaged or had not been in the building at the time of its collapse: (See Exhibit 35, TR 109, 110) Tools, 20.41; safe, 75.00; furnace, 50.00; concrete 236.07; table lamps, 9.68; antique server, 15.00; windows, 50.00 (one-half of 101.98); stove, 67.28; grill, 232.87; sink, 86.30; sink, 78.00; dishes and silverware, 1,035.20 (Note: these were stolen before collapse); plumbing fixtures, 749.15 (Note: these are not even in this building); cooler, 284.62; licenses, insurance and



legal fees, 987.19; doors, 80.58. By her own testimony, the total maximum cost of the building alone, which was damaged, exclusive of the salvage value of lumber, electrical wiring (TR 108), etc., was \$4,057.35.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE HAD BEEN IMPLIED WARRANTY FROM THE APPELLANT TO THE RESPONDENT OF THE FITNESS FOR USE OF THE BEAMS FOR THE PARTICULAR USE TO WHICH THEY WERE ULTIMATELY PUT.

In this case the testimony is unrefuted that the Plaintiff prepared a list of material before ever contacting the appellant (TR 35, 36, 116, 146, 147, 165). She and Mr. Dell had contacted both Morrison-Merrill and Hi-Land Lumber Company, material furnishers in Salt Lake City, before contacting the Appellant. In this case they ordered by sample (TR 117). The furnished beams were patently defective and did not conform to the sample, and both Leishman and Dell knew it (TR 118, 119).

The law in Utah, in force at the time of the Respondent's transaction with the Appellant, was what we know generally as the "Uniform Sales Act", Title 60 Sales Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

Under this act the following provisions seem clear and applicable:

"If the buyer has examined the goods, there is no implied warranty as regards defects which examination ought to have revealed."

In this case the buyer inspected the goods (TR 118, 19), and with admissions on the part of the Plaintiff that the defects were obvious to her and to Dell (TR 19, 118, 119).

The questions of what duties and responsibilities devolve upon the Respondent by the knowledge she had of the defective condition of the beams are taken up under POINT 9, concerning contributory negligence and assumption of risk.

If the buyer bought by sample as she says she did, (TR 117), then the only warranty under the law is that the bulk will conform with the sample.

"60-1-16. Implied warranties in sale by sample. In the case of a contract to sell or a sale by sample:

(1) There is an implied warranty that the bulk shall correspond with the sample in quality.

(2) There is an implied warranty that the buyer shall have a reasonable opportunity of comparing the bulk with the sample, except as far as otherwise provided in 60-3-7 (3).

(3) If the seller is a dealer in goods of that kind, there is an implied warranty that the goods shall be free from any defect rendering them unmerchantable which would not be apparent on reasonable examination of the sample."

In this case the Plaintiff concedes that the goods did not conform to the sample and she received a price adjustment accordingly. It is obvious that there could be no warranty under the provision of 60-1-16.

The next argument that must be made is that in order for there to have been an implied warranty under the pro-

visions of U.C.A. 60-1-15, the Seller must know the particular purpose for which the goods are required, and it must appear that the buyer relies on the seller's skill or judgment.

It is respectfully submitted that under the facts of this case the claimed warranty must fail not only under the question of reliance which will be taken up under POINT 4 following but for the following reasons:

1. The Plaintiff ordered by specification (TR 35, 36). She knew exactly what she wanted (TR 115). She did not request the Appellant to advise her concerning where to locate the beams she had ordered: (TR 119)

"A. I remember them being in contact with the building.

Q. But you don't remember anyone from Kamas Valley Lumber Company telling you where to place the beams?

A. I do not."

2. The Appellant had no knowledge of the spacing of the beams. Merely to have known they were for roof support is insufficient to impose liability. The Appellant would have had to have intimate knowledge at the time of the sale concerning how the beams were to be used before liability would ensue.

The court's findings of fact number 2 to the effect that "Plaintiff advised Defendant of the use to which the beams would be placed" is inadequate to impose liability, even if there were evidence to support it.

To impose liability the Court must necessarily find that the Appellant knew not only the intended use of the beams but the technical manner of the intended use. The

findings of fact in this regard are entirely silent as to such essential conclusion. For example, the testimony of the employees of the Appellant, the carpenter of the Respondent, and both experts was uniform in saying that the beams would have been adequate if placed on four (4) foot centers, but inadequate otherwise.

To demonstrate more clearly that the Court found just the reverse of what is necessary to impose liability, the Court struck from the initial findings of fact submitted to it, (finding of fact number 2) after the words "the beams would be placed" the following language: "and solicited from the defendant their recommendations as to the type of beam which ought to be suitable and merchantable for the contemplated use."

It is clear, therefore, that the Court did not think that the Appellant had more knowledge than the fact that the beam ordered by the Respondent was to be used to support the roof. It is certainly clear that the Court believed that the Appellant made no recommendation as to the type of beam that might be suitable.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE BUYER FAILED TO GIVE NOTICE OF THE BREACH OF WARRANTY.

The Court, by finding of fact number 1, states "That the plaintiff and her attorneys gave defendant a due and proper notice of the failure of the beams and the collapse of the roof when it came to plaintiff's attention."

The particular language of the code provision applicable to this finding is:

"But if, after acceptance of the goods, the buyer fails to give notice to the Seller of the breach of any promise or warranty within a reasonable time after the buyer knows, or ought to know, of such breach, the Seller shall not be liable therefor."

It is respectfully submitted that the breach of warranty, if any, became known to the Respondent on approximately May 22, 1964, the date the beams were delivered. Acceptance of the goods after knowledge of their defective condition relieves the seller of any liability thereunder.

Following further the reasoning above stated, the code further states:

"Where the goods have been delivered to the buyer he cannot rescind the sale, if he knew of the breach of warranty when he accepted the goods, etc."

While the above provision pertains to rights of rescission, nevertheless, it spells out that the buyer's rights accrue at the time of discovery of the breach, and not later, and that is the time when notice must be given.

### POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT REPRESENTED THAT THE BEAMS SOLD WOULD STAND THE WEIGHT OF UP TO FOUR FEET OF SNOW.

The Respondent blithely prepares a finding of fact number 3 stating "that they (the beams) would stand the weight of up to four feet of snow with the contemplated use of the beams placed on eight foot centers."

Nowhere in the record is there any claim that the De-

fendant represented that the beams would stand the weight of up to four feet of snow. This is a child born without the aid of a mother. There is absolutely no pleading, testimony or evidence to the effect that the Seller ever made such a representation.

If this is a finding upon which the Court relied to grant judgment to the Respondent, then we respectfully submit that we are entitled to have the judgment reversed.

#### POINT IV

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