1966

Joanne Adams Leishman Dba Samak Lodge v.  
Kamas Valley Lumber Company, A Corporation :  
Brief of Respondents

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THERE WAS A WARRANTY FROM APPELLANT TO

RESPONDENT OF THE FITNESS FOR USE OF  
THE BEAMS FOR THE PARTICULAR USE TO  
WHICH THEY WERE PUT.

60-1-15 (1) of Utah code annotated, 1953 states as follows:

“Where the buyer, expressly or by implication, makes known to the seller the particular purpose for which the goods are required, and it appears that the buyer relies on the seller’s skill or judgment (whether he is the grower or manufacturer or not), there is an implied warranty that the goods shall be reasonably fit for such purpose.”

60-1-12 of Utah code annotated, 1953, gives the definition of an express warranty:

“Any affirmation of fact or any promise by the seller relative to the goods is an express warranty, if the natural tendency of such affirmation or promise is to induce the buyer to purchase the goods, and if the buyer purchases the goods relying thereon.”

In the case at bar, we submit that there was a warranty, both express and implied, that the beams manufactured and sold by appellant to respondent were structurally sound and were suitable for the purpose for which they were purchased, and respondent relied thereon. The evidence clearly sustains this position and the Court so found.

Mr. Ben Dell testified that in talking with Mr. Weaver of appellant’s company:

“The question arose as to the type of roof structure we were going to use. I told him that

we wanted to use a laminated beam because the previous roof in the building had failed, and we did not want that problem again. I told him I had talked to Hyland Lumber Company, got price on laminated beams and found that because of a strike from their supplier, they could not supply the beams for at least six weeks. Mr. Bannister or Mr. Weaver then told me that they made laminated beams, they could supply the same type and quality beam, and we would save freight from Salt Lake to Kamas, the price would be approximately the same."

"During that conversation I asked him about the beams. He showed me a sample that he had in his office. At that time I asked him would that sample hold up to four feet of snow, because we don't want this roof to go in again. He left his office, went over to the . . . what I later found out was the sales counter, sales desk, referred to a book, came back and said, 'you would have no problem with that snow depth' ". (TR 14, 15).

These representations were relied upon by Respondent (TR 15).

Now Mr. Ben Dell, previous to the above conversation and representations, had shown appellant the diagram and sketch and dimensions of the building (TR 12, 37), thus they were familiar with it and its previous collapsed condition.

Then after the construction work was started, but before delivery of the beams, representatives of Kamas Valley Lumber Company, Mr. Weaver and Mr. Walt Carroll (who was in charge of construct-

ing the beams), came out to the job site, and Mr. Dell testified on this visit as follows:

“They looked to see what span we were going on. We discussed the spacing of the beams, that they were to be on eight-foot centers. At that time Mr. Carroll said that he would put a one-inch camber in the beams, that that would be sufficient.” (TR 16).

Respondent followed the recommendation of getting the beams with the one-inch camber (TR 18, 19), and nothing was heard from Mr. Weaver or Mr. Carroll as to the spacing of the beams at less than the eight-foot centers (TR 16).

Then again, at the time of the delivery of the beams to the job respondents were concerned about the appearance of the beams and they sought out Mr. Weaver of appellant company for assurances, and once again respondent was told that “the beams were structurally sound, they would do the job that we wanted.” Further, it was suggested by Mr. Weaver that bolts could be put through the beams if they were concerned, “but really we didn’t need it because the beams were structurally sound” (TR 20). Then Mr. Weaver recommended that the gaps in the laminations and appearance of the beams could be corrected and cleared up by “filling in,” sanding down and painting. Again this recommendation of appellant was followed by respondent (TR 20, 21, 148, 149).

Mrs. Leishman also testified as to these conversations and especially as to the representation of appellant as to the structural quality of the beams. (TR 119)

Counsel for appellant makes a point of the fact that the defectiveness and structural weaknesses of the beams were obvious to Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell. This is not the case, (TR 21, 118, 119). The evidence shows they were primarily concerned about the appearance of these exposed beams and they were satisfied with the assurances of the manufacturer as to the structural soundness. They were not engineers or experts in this field and they had to rely on the skill and judgment of the manufacturer here. Why would respondent spend several thousand dollars in this building that had already once before collapsed from the snow and then knowingly put in defective beams on the new structure? This argument is ridiculous, and the lower court wisely would not buy it.

Yes, there is ample evidence to support the court's finding of a warranty of fitness for use here. (See also *Nielson v. Hermansen*, 109 U. 180, 166 P 2nd 536 and *Nephi Processing Plant, Inc. v. Talbott*, 247 F 2nd 771.

## POINT II

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN NOT MAKING A FINDING THAT BUYER FAILED TO GIVE NOTICE OF THE BREACH OF WARRANTY.

As was discussed under Point I, appellant continued to represent the structural soundness of their beams and that it would do the job intended and which they personally observed even after delivery of

said beams (TR 20, 21, 148, 149). Thus there was no knowledge of a breach of these representations and warranties until the beams actually failed and collapsed, and then it was that respondent gave due notice to appellant of the breach, and the court so found.

The code provision quoted by Counsel for appellant, 60-3-9 of the Utah code annotated 1953, was only partially quoted. The applicable part of that law, and which holds for respondent's position is as follows:

“In the absence of express or implied agreement of the parties, acceptance of the goods by the buyer shall not discharge the seller from liability in damages, or other legal remedy for breach of any promise or warranty in the contract to sell or the sale.”

In our case the warranty of structural soundness was reiterated again by appellant to respondent after delivery, and acceptance was made based upon those assurances.

### POINT III

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT REPRESENTED THEIR BEAMS SOLD WOULD STAND THE WEIGHT OF UP TO FOUR FEET OF SNOW.

In answer to counsel's or appellant's statement in his brief that “nowhere in the record is there any claim that defendant represented that the beams would stand the weight of up to four feet of snow,”

we merely refer the court to our argument in Point I where the testimony is set out in detail on this question (TR 14, 15. See also (TR 29) where reference is made again to the subject.)

The court therefore had very adequate testimony and evidence as to this representation to support its finding.

#### POINT IV

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF RELIED UPON DEFENDANT'S REPRESENTATION THAT THE BEAMS WERE FIT FOR THE USE FOR WHICH PLAINTIFF PURCHASED THEM.

It is true that both Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell were concerned about the snow problem in the Kamas area. This is one of the reasons they were relying on the skill and judgment of the manufacturer of the beams and that said beams would be suitable for their purpose in holding the roof on that particular building which had previously collapsed and which appellant and their salesmen were entirely familiar with (TR 12, 15, 20, 37, 153).

Mr. Weaver of appellant company himself testified that he was very familiar with Samak Lodge before the sale of said beams, and he knew the purpose and use to be made of the beams by respondent, and he actually recommended their beam for this job. He further showed the sample of how it was manufactured, all for the purpose, of course, to sell respondent on its fitness for use in the job (TR 153, 154, 155).

Respondent thereupon bought the beams, relying upon appellant's recommendations.

Mr. Dell testified further in the conversation with appellant as to the fitness of the beams for the snow problem in the area as follows:

Q. "Based upon — or did you thereupon order the beams?"

A. "A week later"

Q. "I ask you, Mr. Dell, if you relied upon the conversations that had taken place."

A. "Yes, sir, I did."

Q. "Did you communicate these conversations to Mrs. Leishman?"

A. "Yes".

Q. "Did she authorize you to order these beams?"

A. "Yes, Sir."

It should be mentioned here that an adjustment in price on the beams was given because someone else had bought beams for less money in the area and no rebate was given because of defects in the beams. Mr. Weaver himself, of appellant company stated (TR 152):

A. "He (Dell) came in and complained because someone else had bought the beams for less money."

Q. "Was an adjustment made for that?"

A. "I understood that that was made."

Mr. Ben Dell's testimony was also clear on this point when he said (TR 29) :

"One of the people living in the area came down, looked at the beams, told me that he had paid a dollar thirty four for the same type beam; and that is when I questioned Mr. Weaver as to why we were being charged one dollar eighty four when they had sold it for one dollar thirty four to somebody else."

As to the question of Mr. Weaver suggesting bolts in the beams, the fact that respondent didn't do it, (TR 39) shows even further their reliance on Mr. Weaver's statement "but really we didn't need it because the beams were structurally sound." (TR 20)

The other arguments in counsel for appellant's point IV of his brief are either not factual or have no bearing on the question of reliance of fitness for use, and we submit that the trial court held correctly on this point.

## POINT V

THE COURT WAS CORRECT IN ITS FINDING THAT THE BEAMS WERE NOT AS

STRUCTURALLY SOUND AND STRONG AS THEY APPEARED AND SHOULD HAVE BEEN, IF PROPERLY MANUFACTURED, AND THAT THE BUILDING COLLAPSED BY REASON OF THE STRUCTURAL DEFECTS IN THEIR MANUFACTURE.

Mr. Joseph F. Patrick, Sr., a structural engineer and an expert witness testifying in this case, and being specifically familiar with the processes for the manufacture of and use of laminated wood products (TR 52), testified as follows; (TR 54, 55):

Q. "Assuming wood beams containing eight laminations were installed over a span of twenty-four feet with four-foot over-hangs on either end, and assuming further that these beams were properly constructed and were positioned on eight-foot centers in Kamas, Utah, do you have an opinion as to whether or not those beams would be structurally sound to contain the roof?"

A. "Yes, I have an opinion, it would require some qualification."

A. "The process of laminating beams is both simple and complicated. There are many factors that influence the strength of any given beam, and of course *on just the visual inspection it is very difficult to ascertain whether all of these particular elements have been met, and these are the qualifications.*"

"Now, as to the specific beams and some of the specific reasons why I feel that the beams themselves will not or would not accomplish what they were purported to me to do"...

The court: "Well, I don't know what they were reported to you to do, but he's asked you whether or not they are sound, and I suppose he means sufficiently strong to withhold the normal snows that would fall at the place where this house was."

A. "And on the basis of that particular statement, your honor, I would say that there are several areas where these beams fail to meet the standards of construction of the industry."

Q. "Mr. Patrick, before we get into that, let me restate my question to you. If you were to assume that these beams met the standards of industry, would they have been adequate to do the job?"

A. "Provided the proper stress grades of lumber had been used, yes, Sir."

Then again after cross examination and after the testimony of the engineer, Mr. Wadsworth, Mr. Patrick testified again as follows (TR 142):

Q. "All right, now, in view of the definition which he's given and the testimony of Mr. Wadsworth concerning failure, may I ask whether or not this beam if properly constructed would have contained the load without collapse?"

A. "In my opinion, if a beam of these dimensions properly laminated, installed at eight feet, had been subjected to a load in the neighborhood of forty, forty to forty-five

pounds, it very likely would not have collapsed. It would not have had the normal factor of safety." (See also TR 75 on this point).

Now both engineers testified that the beams were defectively manufactured, there is no question about that, and the roof actually collapsed. So whether the roof would have collapsed anyway if properly manufactured, Mr. Patrick, the expert, thinks not, but for counsel for appellant to categorically state so, is ridiculous, and it is purely a matter of conjecture.

The judge felt there was ample evidence to support this finding as stated in his ruling in the lower court (TR 208) :

"Now, it may be that there should have been four-foot centers instead of eight-foot centers, but it wasn't an eight-foot center that caused this beam, this roof to give way. The thing that caused this roof to give way is the defect in the beam itself."

## POINT VI

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT PLAINTIFF DID NOT KNOW OR HAVE REASON TO KNOW THAT THE BEAMS PURCHASED FROM DEFENDANT WERE OF INFERIOR QUALITY OR THAT THEY WERE STRUCTURALLY DEFECTIVE, AND THE COURT DID NOT ERR AS TO THE QUESTION OF WAIVER OF PLAINTIFFS' RIGHT TO CLAIM BREACH OF WARRANTY, CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE, AND ASSUMPTION OF RISK.

We have set out a partial argument on the question of *knowledge* on the part of plaintiff as to the defectiveness and structural soundness of the beams in our Point IV, which we refer the court to. Counsel for appellant states in his Point IV (7), "Weaver told them to put the beams on four-foot centers (TR 151)". Mr. Weaver testified actually that a month or so after respondent opened for business, a casual observation was made on the subject (TR 150, 151).

Again in his Point IV (8) counsel states, "Ban- nister told them the beams would not hold as placed . . ." (TR 171). Here again, it was after the beams were placed that the purported conversation took place and his statement was a passing comment only, but nowhere did he say that the beams would not hold as placed. He actually testified to the contrary — that he made no such statement. These statements and others made by Mr. Thacker were denied by respondent, and anyway they have nothing to do with knowledge of defective beams on the part of respondent.

At the time of delivery of the beams, there was no knowledge of structural defects or unsoundness of the beams, (TR 20, 21, 119), but respondent did complain about their appearance. The testimony of Mrs. Leishman and Mr. Dell was corroborated by Mr. Weaver of appellant's company on this point (TR 148, 149) :

A. "Shortly after the beams were delivered, Mr. Dell had come down and complained about appearance . . ."

A. "The objection he raised to the beams were some voids, there was . . ."

Q. "Some voids?"

A. "By voids I mean slight openings such as this in the finger joints."

Q. "You mean the openings . . . you have pointed to the areas where we have heard testimony that there is improper lamination. Is that what you mean by the voids?"

A. "Yes."

Q. "He had some objection to that?"

A. "From appearance standpoint."

Q. "And what else was said?"

A. "There was some mud on the beams because there was snow and mud on the ground, and they were dumped there, unloaded. I suggested that he possibly could fill those voids with some kind of plastic or wood because we were speaking merely from the standpoint of appearance now."

Again, merely because Mr. Weaver or Mr. Carroll suggested putting in bolts in the beams if there was any concern about them, but assured respondent, "but really we didn't need it because the beams were structurally sound (TR 20), did not impart knowledge to respondent of structural unsoundness and defects. (See also TR 57). It would take an expert in the field to determine such structural unsoundness,

as was evidenced by the testimony of both the expert engineer witnesses.

Mr. Wadsworth had to look twice, closely before he could say the joint was not a good one (TR 136, 137). Then, after viewing carefully one of the delaminated beams, and in response to the question "Does that delamination indicate improper or weak bonding of glue?", Mr. Wadsworth answered, "not necessarily, in my opinion." (TR 137).

Again Mr. Wadsworth was asked (TR 139):

Q. "But the mere fact that there is spacing at the butt end of the finger joint, is that an indication of weakness within the joint itself?"

A. "No. It is the width of it that would indicate it."

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